
 CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS  

 

CITY COUNCIL REGULAR SESSION 

321 WALNUT STREET, GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 

TUESDAY, JANUARY 16, 2024 – 7:00 PM 

Anyone wishing to address the city council regarding any topic on this agenda is requested to complete a 

card available at the city clerk's desk.  Speakers are respectfully requested to limit their comments to three 

(3) minutes. 

The city council prohibits the use of cell phones and other electronic devices which emit an audible sound 

during all meetings with the exception of law enforcement, fire and rescue or health care providers on 

call. Persons in violation may be requested to leave the meeting 

AGENDA 

Invocation & Pledge of Allegiance to the Flag - Pastor Robert Cook, Praise in the Park 

Roll Call 

Mayor to call on members of the audience wishing to address the Council on matters not on the Agenda. 

AWARDS & RECOGNITION 

1. Proclamation - Arbor Day 

2. Proclamation - Black History Month 

3. Recognition of Eliberto Castro for 46 years with the City of Green Cove Springs 

CONSENT AGENDA 

All matters under the consent agenda are considered to be routine by the city council and will be enacted 

by one motion in the form listed below. There will be no separate discussion on these items. If discussion 

is desired, that item will be removed from the consent agenda and will be considered separately. Backup 

documentation and staff recommendations have been previously submitted to the city council on these 

items. 

4. City Council approval of the 2024 Food Truck Friday Dates.  Kimberly Thomas 

5. City Council approval of Minutes.  Erin West 

          Regular Sessions: 12/5/2023 and 12/19/2023 

6. City Council approval of Amendment #3 to the Interlocal Agreement with Clay County for the 

Augusta Savage Pickleball Courts.  Mike Null 

7. City Council award of Bid # 2023-14 West Street CDBG Stormwater and Sidewalk 

Improvements to Besch and Smith in the amount of $4,700,359.70. Mike Null 

Page 1



January 16, 2024 Agenda Page 2 of 3 

 

 

8. City Council approval to request to include SR 16 Trail Projects into the North Florida TPO’s 

List of Priority Projects.  Michael Daniels 

COUNCIL BUSINESS 

9. First reading of Ordinance O-03-024 adopting an official City Seal and the provisions of Section 

165.043, Florida Statutes, which regulates the unofficial use of the City Seal.  L. J. Arnold III 

and Erin West 

10. Review and Update Regarding City’s Capability and Impact to Offer Medical Insurance to Law 

Enforcement Officers Eligible for Retirement up to age 65.  Dee Jones 

11. City Manager & City Attorney Reports / Correspondence 

12. City Council Reports / Correspondence 

Adjournment 

 

 

The City Council meets the first and third Tuesday of each month beginning at 7:00 p.m., unless 

otherwise scheduled.  Meetings are held in City Hall at 321 Walnut Street.  Video and audio 

recordings of the meetings are available in the City Clerk’s Office upon request. 

City may take action on any matter during this meeting, including items that are not set forth within 

this agenda. 

Minutes of the City Council meetings can be obtained from the City Clerk’s office.   The Meetings 

are usually recorded, but are not transcribed verbatim for the minutes.  Persons requiring a 

verbatim transcript may make arrangements with the City Clerk to duplicate the recordings, if 

available, or arrange to have a court reporter present at the meeting.  The cost of duplication and/or 

court reporter will be at the expense of the requesting party. 

Persons who wish to appeal any decision made by the City Council with respect to any matter 

considered at this meeting will need a record of the proceedings, and for such purpose may need to 

ensure that a verbatim record of the proceedings is made, which record includes the testimony and 

evidence upon which the appeal is based.  The City is not responsible if the inhouse recording is 

incomplete for any reason. 

ADA NOTICE 

In accordance with Section 286.26, Florida Statutes, persons with disabilities needing special 

accommodations to participate in this meeting should contact the City Clerk’s office no later than 5:00 

p.m. on the day prior to the meeting. 

PUBLIC PARTICIPATION: 

Pursuant to Section 286.0114, Florida Statutes, effective October 1, 2013, the public is invited to speak 

on any “proposition” before a board, commission, council, or appointed committee takes official action 

regardless of whether the issue is on the Agenda.  Certain exemptions for emergencies, ministerial acts, 

Page 2



January 16, 2024 Agenda Page 3 of 3 

 

 

etc. apply.  This public participation does not affect the right of a person to be heard as otherwise provided 

by law. 

EXPARTE COMMUNICATIONS 

Oral or written exchanges (sometimes referred to as lobbying or information gathering) between a Council 

Member and others, including staff, where there is a substantive discussion regarding a quasijudicial 

decision by the City Council. The exchanges must be disclosed by the City Council so the public may 

respond to such exchanges before a vote is taken. 

 

Page 3



Page 4

Item #1.



Page 5

Item #2.



 

STAFF REPORT  
CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 

TO:  City Council MEETING DATE: January 16, 2024 

FROM: Kimberly Thomas, Exec. Asst. to the City Manager 

SUBJECT: 2024 Food Truck Friday Dates 
 

BACKGROUND 

As the popularity of Food Truck Friday grows, it becomes necessary to schedule the event further in 

advance to allow scheduling of vendors and musicians. All dates fall on the first Friday of their 

respective month. The following dates are proposed for Food Truck Friday in 2024:  

March 1  

April 5  

May 3  

June 7 

July 5 

August 2  

September 6 

October 4  

November (TBD Pending Merge with 150th Year Celebration) 

FISCAL IMPACT 

N/A 

RECOMMENDATION 

Approve the 2024 Food Truck Friday dates. 
 

Page 6

Item #4.



 CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS  

 

CITY COUNCIL REGULAR SESSION 

321 WALNUT STREET, GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 

TUESDAY, DECEMBER 05, 2023 – 7:00 PM 

MINUTES 

Invocation & Pledge of Allegiance to the Flag – Bob Page 

Roll Call 

COUNCIL MEMBERS PRESENT: Mayor Connie Butler, Vice Mayor Steven Kelley, Council 

Member Matt Johnson, Council Member Thomas Smith 

 

COUNCIL MEMBERS ABSENT: Council Member Ed Gaw 

STAFF MEMBERS PRESENT: L.J. Arnold, III, City Attorney, Steve Kennedy, City Manager, Mike 

Null, Assistant City Manager, Erin West, City Clerk 

Mayor to call on members of the audience wishing to address the Council on matters not on the Agenda. 

No comments 

AWARDS & RECOGNITION 

1. New Police Department Employees  Chief Guzman 

     Administrative Assistant - Megan Young 

     Dispatcher - Courtney Harris 

Chief Guzman introduces and reads the Oath to swear-in Administrative Assistant Megan Young 

and Dispatcher Courtney Harris. 

2. Police Department Swearing-In  Chief Guzman 

     Chaplain Marshall MacClellan 

     Officer Stephen Donohue 

     Officer Jeffery Kummoung 

Chief Guzman introduces and reads the Oath to swear-in Chaplain Marshall MacClellan and 

Officer Stephen Donohue. 

3. Police Department Promotion  Chief Guzman 

     Sergeant Brett Morando 

Chief Guzman reads the Oath to swear-in Sergeant Brett Morando. 

PRESENTATIONS 

4. Presentation and recommendation for stormwater project loan and capital equipment financing 

RFP process. Mike Null 

Assistant City Manager Mike Null speaks to the Council and introduces Jeremy Niedfeldt with 

PFM Financial Advisors. 

Mr. Niedfeldt presents to the Council the finance plan for the Stormwater project. 

Page 7

Item #5.



December 05, 2023 Minutes Page 2 of 5 

 

 

Motion to accept the presentation and direct staff to pursue the recommended financing 

options of the lease for the truck with the 20 year maturity option with the 4 year put with 

Truist for the stormwater funds. 

Motion made by Vice Mayor Kelley, Seconded by Council Member Johnson. 

Voting Yea: Mayor Butler, Vice Mayor Kelley, Council Member Johnson, Council Member 

Smith 

5. FMPA - December 2023 Bob Page 

Mr. Bob Page presents the December FMPA report. 

PUBLIC HEARINGS 

6. City Council approval on Second and Final Reading of Ordinance O-32-2023 authorizing water 

rate changes for Fiscal Year 2024.  Scott Schultz 

City Attorney Arnold reads Ordinance No. O-32-2023 by title. 

Assistant City Manager Mike Null presents and advises this will be a 3% increase. 

Mayor Butler opens the public hearing. 

Following no comments, Mayor Butler closes the public hearing. 

Motion to approve Second and Final Reading of Ordinance O-32-2023 authorizing water 

rate changes for Fiscal Year 2024. 

Motion made by Vice Mayor Kelley, Seconded by Council Member Smith. 

Voting Yea: Mayor Butler, Vice Mayor Kelley, Council Member Johnson, Council Member 

Smith 

7. City Council approval on Second and Final Reading of Ordinance O-33-2023 authorizing 

wastewater rate changes for Fiscal Year 2024.  Scott Schultz 

City Attorney Arnold reads Ordinance No. O-33-2023 by title. 

Assistant City Manager Mike Null presents and advises this will be a 3% increase. 

Mayor Butler opens the public hearing. 

Following no comments, Mayor Butler closes the public hearing. 

Motion to approve Second and Final Reading of Ordinance O-33-2023 authorizing water 

rate changes for Fiscal Year 2024 
Motion made by Council Member Smith, Seconded by Council Member Johnson. 

Voting Yea: Mayor Butler, Vice Mayor Kelley, Council Member Johnson, Council Member 

Smith 

8. City Council approval on First Reading Ordinance O-37-2023 authorizing a loan in the amount 

of $2,171,400.00 from the Florida Department of Environmental Protection (FDEP), State 

Revolving Fund (SRF), for the design of the Magnolia Point Reclaimed Water System, and 

improvements to the Reynolds Water Treatment Facility.  Scott Schultz 

City Attorney Arnold reads Ordinance No. O-37-2023 by title. 

Assistant Water Utilities Manager Scott Schultz presents on the ordinance. 

Mayor Butler opens the public hearing. 

Following no comments, Mayor Butler closes the public hearing. 

 

Page 8

Item #5.



December 05, 2023 Minutes Page 3 of 5 

 

 

Motion to approve on First Reading Ordinance O-37-2023 authorizing a loan in the 

amount of $2,171,400.00 from the Florida Department of Environmental Protection 

(FDEP), State Revolving Fund (SRF), for the design of the Magnolia Point Reclaimed 

Water System and improvements to the Reynolds Water Treatment Facility. 
Motion made by Council Member Johnson, Seconded by Council Member Smith. 

Voting Yea: Mayor Butler, Vice Mayor Kelley, Council Member Johnson, Council Member 

Smith 

9. First Reading of Ordinance O-35-2023 and Re-Adoption Hearing amending the Comprehensive 

Plan to incorporate Multimodal and Mobility Fee Policies.  Michael Daniels 

City Attorney Arnold reads Ordinance No. O-35-2023 by title. 

Development Services Director Michael Daniels presents on the ordinance. 

Mayor Butler opens the public hearing. 

Following no comments, Mayor Butler closes the public hearing. 

Motion to approve on the first reading of Ordinance O-35-2023 to adopt the proposed 

Comprehensive Plan Amendments to the Future Land Use, Transportation and Capital 

Improvement Elements to the Florida Department of Economic Opportunity for form and 

legality. 
Motion made by Council Member Smith, Seconded by Council Member Johnson. 

Voting Yea: Mayor Butler, Vice Mayor Kelley, Council Member Johnson, Council Member 

Smith 

10. First Reading of Ordinance O-36-2023, Adding Street Walls as an alternative design standard in 

the Gateway Corridor District.  Michael Daniels 

City Attorney Arnold reads Ordinance No. O-36-2023 by title. 

Development Services Director Michael Daniels presents on the ordinance. 

Mayor Butler opens the public hearing. 

Donna Snelling 504 North St. GCS questions where the money will come from for the street 

walls. 

Mr. Daniels advises the developers will be the ones paying for the street walls. 

Following no further comments, Mayor Butler closes the public hearing. 

Council discussion followed concerning street walls. 

Motion to approve on the first reading of Ordinance No. O-36-2023 amending City Code 

Chapter 117, Sec. 117-656 for form and legality. 
Motion made by Council Member Johnson, Seconded by Council Member Smith. 

Voting Yea: Mayor Butler, Vice Mayor Kelley, Council Member Johnson, Council Member 

Smith 

CONSENT AGENDA 

All matters under the consent agenda are considered to be routine by the city council and will be enacted 

by one motion in the form listed below. There will be no separate discussion on these items. If discussion 

is desired, that item will be removed from the consent agenda and will be considered separately. Backup 

documentation and staff recommendations have been previously submitted to the city council on these 

items. 

Page 9

Item #5.



December 05, 2023 Minutes Page 4 of 5 

 

 

Motion to approve Consent Agenda items 11 through 17. 

Motion made by Council Member Johnson, Seconded by Council Member Smith. 

Voting Yea: Mayor Butler, Vice Mayor Kelley, Council Member Johnson, Council Member 

Smith 

11. City Council approval to purchase electric inventory items from Anixter in the amount of 

$83,515.00.  Scott Schultz 

12. City Council ratification of Amendment #6 to the St. Johns River Water Management District 

(SJRWMD) Cost Share Program, Agreement #36028, for the Harbor Road Wastewater 

Treatment Facility (HRWWTF) Phase II Construction, extending the construction completion 

date to December 31, 2024.  Scott Schultz 

13. City Council approval of 60-month lease renewal for 8 Canon multi-function copiers under the 

NASPO State of Florida Contract # 44000000-NASPO-19-ACS.  Angel Alicea 

14. City Council approval of Minutes.  Erin West 

          Regular Sessions: 9/5/2023 and 10/3/2023 

          Special Session: 8/15/2023 

15. City Council approval of Resolution No. R-24-2023, approving the keeping and maintaining of 

the City's record (master) copy documents on electronic media.  Erin West 

16. City Council approval of Resolution No: R-23-2023 Authorizing a negotiated loan for not to 

exceed $600,000.00 for the purpose of financing a vehicle and equipment for the City’s 

Stormwater System.  L.J. Arnold III 

17. City Council approval of a Key to the City for Dane Dunning.  Erin West 

COUNCIL BUSINESS 

18. Approve on first reading as to form only City Ordinance No. O-38-2023 authorizing the leasing 

of the City owned old firehouse building located at 25 Roderigo Avenue, Green Cove Springs, 

Florida (Firehouse).  L. J. Arnold III 

City Attorney Arnold reads Ordinance No. O-38-2023 by title and presents. 

Mr. Arnold advises the Council they are not approving anyone to lease the building tonight the 

ordinance is allowing the city to lease the building, if it comes up. 

Council discussion followed concerning the leasing of the firehouse. 

Assistant City Manager Mike Null speaks and advises an interested party is looking to make 

some sort of investment into the building. 

Felicia Hampshire 508 Franklin St. GCS questions who is interested in leasing the building. 

Mr. Null advises it is Green Cove Wrestling Club. 

Ms. Hampshire asks about the AMI Kids renewing a contract with the city. 

Mr. Null advises the lease is a 10-year lease and we are using that contract as a template. 

Ms. Hampshire questions when the pickleball courts will be complete. 

City Manager Steve Kennedy advises the courts have been approved and the bids came back 

above budget.  The County is looking into projects and funds available. 

Joe Sobotta 212 North St. GCs speaks about the firehouse on the hill. 

Council discussion followed. 

Page 10

Item #5.



December 05, 2023 Minutes Page 5 of 5 

 

 

Motion to approve Ordinance No. O-38-2023 as to form only on first reading. 
Motion made by Council Member Smith, Seconded by Council Member Johnson. 

Voting Yea: Mayor Butler, Vice Mayor Kelley, Council Member Johnson, Council Member 

Smith 

19. City Manager & City Attorney Reports / Correspondence 

The City Manager and City Attorney made comments regarding various city activities, events, 

operations, and projects. 

20. City Council Reports / Correspondence 

The City Council made comments regarding various city activities, events, operations, and 

projects. 

Adjournment 

There being no further business to come before the City Council, the meeting was adjourned at 9:05 

p.m. 

 CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 

 
 

 Constance W. Butler, Mayor 

  

Attest:  

 
 

Erin West, City Clerk  

 

Page 11

Item #5.



 CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS  

 

CITY COUNCIL REGULAR SESSION 

321 WALNUT STREET, GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 

TUESDAY, DECEMBER 19, 2023 – 7:00 PM 

MINUTES 

Invocation & Pledge of Allegiance to the Flag - Reverend McCallister, First African Missionary 

Baptist Church 

Roll Call 

COUNCIL MEMBERS PRESENT: Mayor Connie Butler, Vice Mayor Steven Kelley, Council 

Member Ed Gaw, Council Member Matt Johnson, Council Member Thomas Smith 

STAFF MEMBERS PRESENT: L.J. Arnold, III, City Attorney, Steve Kennedy, City Manager, Erin 

West, City Clerk 

Mayor to call on members of the audience wishing to address the Council on matters not on the Agenda. 

No comments 

AWARDS & RECOGNITION 

1. City Council Recognition of Volunteers for the Parade of Trees and Christmas on Walnut Street 

Festival and Parade events.  Kim Thomas 

Executive Assistant Kimberly Thomas recognizes the Volunteers for the Parade of Trees and 

Christmas on Walnut Street Festival. 

2. Key to the City - Dane Dunning 

Mayor Butler speaks and presents Texan Rangers World Series Champion, Dane Dunning with a 

Key to the City. 

Dane Dunning speaks and expresses his gratitude. 

PUBLIC HEARINGS 

3. Passage of City Ordinance No. O-38-2023 on second and final reading authorizing the leasing of 

the City owned old firehouse building located at 25 Roderigo Avenue, Green Cove Springs, 

Florida (Firehouse).  L. J. Arnold III 

City Attorney Arnold reads Ordinance No. O-38-2023 by title and presents. 

Mayor Butler opens the public hearing. 

Paul Nesbitt 3379 Olympic Dr. GCS speaks as part of the JP Hall Charity.  Mr. Nesbitt advises 

they use the firehouse to store and refurbish bikes to give to kids at the JP Hall Christmas Party 

and others that need it. 

Jim Reap coaches wrestling at Clay High.  He advises the GCS Wrestling Club is interested in 

leasing the firehouse.  The club is willing to invest in the building while using it and making it a 

resource for the youth. 

Travis Hartzog 3739 CR 315 GCS speaks for the Wrestling Club. 

Colby Hancock GCS advises he wrestled at Clay High and speaks for the Wrestling Club. 

Page 12

Item #5.



December 19, 2023 Minutes Page 2 of 5 

 

 

Darrol Watson 733 Calico Jack Way GCS speaks for Coach Reap and the Wrestling Club.  Mr. 

Watson thinks both groups are good for the community. 

Following no further comments, Mayor Butler closes the public hearing. 

Council discussion followed with members speaking highly of both groups interested in leasing 

the firehouse. 

Motion to Approve Ordinance No. O-38-2023 on second and final reading. 

Motion made by Council Member Smith, Seconded by Council Member Johnson. 

Voting Yea: Mayor Butler, Vice Mayor Kelley, Council Member Gaw, Council Member 

Johnson, Council Member Smith 

4. Consideration of passage of Resolution No. R-25-2023 electing to use the uniform method of 

collecting Non-Ad Valorem Special Assessments levied within the incorporated area of the City 

known as Reynolds Park / Clay County Port (“Property”).  L.J. Arnold III 

City Attorney Arnold reads Resolution No. R-25-2023 by title and the first Whereas section and 

presents on the resolution. 

Mayor Butler opens the public hearing. 

Rob Bradley speaks representing property in the resolution.  He advises he just learned of this 

plan this morning and is hoping to have better dialogues with the city in 2024. 

Following no further comments, Mayor Butler closes the public hearing. 

Council discussion followed concerning special assessment needs. 

City Manager Steve Kennedy advises this is to establish a method so that the process is in place 

when it is needed. 

Motion to Approve Resolution R-25-2023 and take necessary legal steps as shown in the 

Correspondence. 
Motion made by Council Member Smith, Seconded by Council Member Gaw. 

Voting Yea: Mayor Butler, Vice Mayor Kelley, Council Member Gaw, Council Member 

Johnson, Council Member Smith 

5. Second and Final Reading of Ordinance O-35-2023 and Re-Adoption Hearing amending the 

Comprehensive Plan to incorporate Multimodal and Mobility Fee Policies.  Michael Daniels 

City Attorney Arnold reads Ordinance No. O-35-2023 by title. 

Development Services Director Michael Daniels presents. 

Mayor Butler opens the public hearing. 

Following no public comment, Mayor Butler closes the public hearing. 

Motion to approve on the second and final reading of Ordinance O-35-2023 to adopt the 

proposed Comprehensive Plan Amendments to the Future Land Use, Transportation and 

Capital Improvement Elements to the Florida Department of Economic Opportunity for 

form and legality. 
Motion made by Council Member Smith, Seconded by Council Member Johnson. 

Voting Yea: Mayor Butler, Vice Mayor Kelley, Council Member Gaw, Council Member 

Johnson, Council Member Smith 

6. Second and Final Reading of Ordinance O-36-2023, Adding Street Walls as an alternative design 

standard in the Gateway Corridor District.  Michael Daniels 

City Attorney Arnold reads Ordinance No. O-36-2023 by title. 

Page 13

Item #5.



December 19, 2023 Minutes Page 3 of 5 

 

 

Development Services Director Michael Daniels presents. 

Mayor Butler opens the public hearing. 

Following no comment, Mayor Butler closed the public hearing. 

Council discussion followed concerning any applicants, uses in the areas being what is intended, 

making sure the code supports street walls and special exceptions. 

Motion to decline the second and final reading Ordinance No. O-36-2023 which would add 

the street walls as an alternative design standard in the Gateway Corridor with the 

intention of bringing in the standard exception. 

Motion made by Council Member Smith, Seconded by Council Member Gaw. 

Council discussion followed, concerning creating a case-by-case basis if a special exception is 

used. 

Council Member Gaw questions bringing in outside expertise to answer questions and tabling the 

item until a further date. 

Mr. Arnold advises that would be a good idea because if the ordinance fails on second reading 

staff will have to start back at the beginning of the process. 

Council Member Smith withdrawals his motion with the intent to amend based on tabling. 

Council Member Gaw agrees to withdrawal his second of the motion. 

Council discussion follows concerning outside expertise and the next steps. 

Motion to defeat Ordinance No. O-36-2023. 

Motion made by Council Member Gaw. 

Discussion followed on the next steps. 

Due to the lack of second the motion dies. 

Motion to defeat Ordinance No. O-36-2023. 

Motion made by Council Member Gaw, Seconded by Council Member Smith. 

Voting Yea: Mayor Butler, Vice Mayor Kelley, Council Member Gaw, Council Member 

Johnson, Council Member Smith 

Council Member Gaw asks Mr. Daniels to continue the same thing but employing the special 

exception process in the determination of the street walls. 

7. City Council approval on Second and Final Reading Ordinance O-37-2023 authorizing a loan in 

the amount of $2,171,400.00 from the Florida Department of Environmental Protection (FDEP), 

State Revolving Fund (SRF), for the design of the Magnolia Point Reclaimed Water System, and 

improvements to the Reynolds Water Treatment Facility.  Scott Schultz 

City Attorney Arnold reads Ordinance No. O-37-2023 by title. 

Assistant Water Utilities Director Scott Schultz presents and advises this is step one in 

complying SB64. 

Mayor Butler opens the public hearing. 

Following no comment, Mayor Butler closed the public hearing. 

Council discussion followed. 

Motion to approve on Second and Final Reading Ordinance O-37-2023 authorizing a loan 

in the amount of $2,171,400.00 from the Florida Department of Environmental Protection 

(FDEP), State Revolving Fund (SRF), for the design of the Magnolia Point Reclaimed 

Water System and improvements to the Reynolds Water Treatment Facility. 
Motion made by Vice Mayor Kelley, Seconded by Council Member Smith. 

Voting Yea: Mayor Butler, Vice Mayor Kelley, Council Member Gaw, Council Member 

Johnson, Council Member Smith 

Page 14

Item #5.



December 19, 2023 Minutes Page 4 of 5 

 

 

CONSENT AGENDA 

All matters under the consent agenda are considered to be routine by the city council and will be enacted 

by one motion in the form listed below. There will be no separate discussion on these items. If discussion 

is desired, that item will be removed from the consent agenda and will be considered separately. Backup 

documentation and staff recommendations have been previously submitted to the city council on these 

items. 

Council Member Gaw pulled item 13. 

Motion to approve Consent Agenda items 8 through 12 pulling item 13. 

Motion made by Council Member Smith, Seconded by Council Member Johnson. 

Voting Yea: Mayor Butler, Vice Mayor Kelley, Council Member Gaw, Council Member 

Johnson, Council Member Smith 

8. City Council approval of the ACL 2025 Docking Schedule.  Kim Thomas 

9. Consideration and passage of Resolution No. R-26-2023, authorizing the City to borrow an 

amount not to exceed $8,560,000.00 to finance the acquisition and construction of certain 

improvements to the City’s Stormwater utility, and approving the lender and the various terms 

and conditions of the loan.  L.J. Arnold III 

10. City Council Authorization to award Equix Energy Services the bid No. 2023-15 Annual 

Directional Boring Contract for a period of one year from the date of the award. City Counsel 

approval to issue a purchase order to Equix Energy Services for contractual underground bores 

as needed for FY2024. Andy Yeager 

11. City Council approval of Minutes.  Erin West 

          Regular Sessions: 10/17/2023 and 11/7/2023 

          Special Session: 11/7/2023 

12. City Council approval of the Martin Luther King, Jr Day Proclamation.  Erin West 

13. City Council approval of the Site Development Plan for a 57,000 square foot Warehouse located 

in the 1300 Block of Energy Cove Court for approximately 3.6 acres of parcel #016562-000-

00.  Michael Daniels 

Council Member Gaw asks the developer of this site to provide an update. 

Joe Wiggins advises they are working with staff on their vision of a 48,000 square foot 

warehouse and a 9,000 square foot warehouse to help with the limited warehouse availability. 

Motion to approve Consent Agenda item 13. 

Motion made by Council Member Smith, Seconded by Council Member Gaw. 

Voting Yea: Mayor Butler, Vice Mayor Kelley, Council Member Gaw, Council Member 

Johnson, Council Member Smith 

COUNCIL BUSINESS 

14. Downtown Wayfinding Location Installation.  Michael Daniels 

Development Services Director Michael Daniels presents on Wayfinding. 

Page 15

Item #5.



December 19, 2023 Minutes Page 5 of 5 

 

 

Council discussion followed concerning the design and location of the signs. 
 

Motion to approve the proposed wayfinding installation locations. 

Motion made by Council Member Smith, Seconded by Council Member Johnson. 

Voting Yea: Mayor Butler, Vice Mayor Kelley, Council Member Gaw, Council Member 

Johnson, Council Member Smith 

15. City Manager & City Attorney Reports / Correspondence 

The City Manager and City Attorney made comments regarding various city activities, events, 

operations, and projects. 

Assistant Water Utilities Director Scott Schultz updates the Council on the Wastewater treatment 

facility. 

16. City Council Reports / Correspondence 

The City Council made comments regarding various city activities, events, operations, and 

projects. 

Adjournment 

There being no further business to come before the City Council, the meeting was adjourned at 10:21 

p.m. 

 CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 

 
 

 Constance W. Butler, Mayor 

  

Attest:  

 
 

Erin West, City Clerk  

 

Page 16

Item #5.



 

STAFF REPORT  
CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 

TO:  City Council Regular Session MEETING DATE: January 16, 2024 

FROM: Mike Null, Assistant City Manager 

SUBJECT: City Council approval of Amendment #3 to the Interlocal Agreement with Clay County for 

the August Savage Pickleball Courts.  Mike Null 
 

BACKGROUND 

The City Council has previously approved an interlocal agreement and two subsequent amendments 

with the County for construction of pickleball courts at the Augusta Savage Center.  These documents 

are attached for the Council’s reference.   

Presented for approval this evening is Amendment #3 which includes two notable changes.  The first is 

to update the City’s cost-share based on the actual bid price.  Based on the previous separation of 

responsible items between the City and County and the final bid price from Brogdon Builders, LLC of 

$464,830.31, the City’s responsibility is $28,334.87.  This is in addition to the $15,000 that the City 

previously paid for additional engineering. 

The other notable change is a recommendation by staff for the City to fund any change orders associated 

with the project.  The City Manager and Asst. City Manager attended the December 12, 2023, County 

Commission meeting where the construction contract was being awarded.  The discussion among 

Commissioners appeared to quickly be turning to not awarding the bid for fear of change orders.  In 

order to ensure the project moved forward, the City Manager and Asst. City Manager felt comfortable in 

recommending the City take on any change orders, and communicated that to the Commission, which 

subsequently approved the construction project on a 4-1 vote.  City staff is comfortable that this is a 

relatively small, simple and well-designed project that should not have any change orders. 

Staff is requesting approval of Amendment #3 this evening with these two items in mind. 

FISCAL IMPACT 

Funds are available in the approved FY 24 budget. 

RECOMMENDATION 

Approve Amendment #3 to the Interlocal Agreement with Clay County for the August Savage 

Pickleball Courts. 
 

Page 17

Item #6.



Page 18

Item #6.



Page 19

Item #6.



Page 20

Item #6.



Page 21

Item #6.



Page 22

Item #6.



Page 23

Item #6.



Page 24

Item #6.



Page 25

Item #6.



Page 26

Item #6.



Page 27

Item #6.



Page 28

Item #6.



Page 29

Item #6.



Page 30

Item #6.



Page 31

Item #6.



Page 32

Item #6.



Page 33

Item #6.



Page 34

Item #6.



Page 35

Item #6.



Page 36

Item #6.



Page 37

Item #6.



Page 38

Item #6.



Page 39

Item #6.



Page 40

Item #6.



Page 41

Item #6.



Page 42

Item #6.



Page 43

Item #6.



Page 44

Item #6.



Page 45

Item #6.



 

STAFF REPORT  
CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 

TO:  City Council Regular Session MEETING DATE: January 16, 2024 

FROM: Mike Null, Asst. City Manager 

SUBJECT: City Council award of Bid # 2023-14 West Street CDBG Stormwater and Sidewalk 

Improvements to Besch and Smith in the amount of $4,700,359.70. Mike Null 
 

BACKGROUND 

This project award incorporates two sections of the 2020 CDBG-NR grant that the City received in 

2021.  This project will construct the sidewalk portion as well as the stormwater portion of the grant 

project, with the CDBG grant funding $600,000 of the work. 

The city received two bids on this project.  Besch and Smith submitted a bid of $4,963,773.23 and CGC 

submitted a bid of $9,111,431.00.  The Besch and Smith bid is approximately $2,000,000 over budget.  

Staff met with Besch and Smith and identified $263,413.53 is value engineering opportunities as well as 

at least $334,400.50 in direct purchasing opportunities, which will result in approximately $23,000 in 

tax savings by the City purchasing the materials directly. 

The recommended award amount of $4,700,359.70 includes the reduction of $263,413.53 in value 

engineering items for the stormwater portion of the project.  The direct purchase items will be removed 

from the contract by change order once awarded to realize the tax savings to be applied to the 

stormwater portion of the project as well.  Staff recommends award of the project to Besch and Smith in 

the amount of $4,700,359.70. 

FISCAL IMPACT 

As presented, the sidewalk portion of the project is $670,223.49.  This item is not specifically included 

in the FY 2024 approved budget; rather it was not completed in FY 2023.  This portion of the contract 

will be funded by: 

 $267,000 in CDBG grant funds, and 

 $403,223.49 in funds re-allocated from the “Dirt Road Paving Program” line item upon Council 

approval.   

o As discussed during the budget process this year, the City does not intend to use dirt 

road funding to pave dirt roads. 

The stormwater portion of the project represents the remaining $4,030,136.21.  This portion of the 

project will be funded by: 

 $1,000,000 of unexpended funds from the FY 2023 CIP budget for this project, 

 $333,000 in CDBG grant funds,  

 $1,176,936 in stormwater loan proceeds intended for this project, and  

 $1,520,200.21 in stormwater loan proceeds intended for the Oakridge and Highland project 

upon Council approval. 

Page 46

Item #7.



This stormwater funding plan along with the incorporation of the $8,500,000 loan and additional loan-

funded projects will be presented to Council at a future meeting in a formal budget amendment. 

RECOMMENDATION 

Award Bid # 2023-14 West Street CDBG Stormwater and Sidewalk Improvements to Besch and Smith 

in the amount of $4,700,359.70. 
 

Page 47

Item #7.



Page 48

Item #7.



Page 49

Item #7.



Page 50

Item #7.



Page 51

Item #7.



Page 52

Item #7.



Page 53

Item #7.



Page 54

Item #7.



Page 55

Item #7.



Page 56

Item #7.



Page 57

Item #7.



Page 58

Item #7.



Page 59

Item #7.



Page 60

Item #7.



Page 61

Item #7.



Page 62

Item #7.



Page 63

Item #7.



Page 64

Item #7.



Page 65

Item #7.



Page 66

Item #7.



Page 67

Item #7.



Page 68

Item #7.



Page 69

Item #7.



Page 70

Item #7.



Page 71

Item #7.



Page 72

Item #7.



Page 73

Item #7.



Page 74

Item #7.



Page 75

Item #7.



Page 76

Item #7.



Page 77

Item #7.



Page 78

Item #7.



Page 79

Item #7.



Page 80

Item #7.



Page 81

Item #7.



Page 82

Item #7.



Page 83

Item #7.



Page 84

Item #7.



Page 85

Item #7.



Page 86

Item #7.



Page 87

Item #7.



Page 88

Item #7.



Page 89

Item #7.



Page 90

Item #7.



Page 91

Item #7.



Page 92

Item #7.



Page 93

Item #7.



Page 94

Item #7.



 

STAFF REPORT  
CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 

TO:  City Council MEETING DATE: January 12, 2024 

FROM: Michael Daniels, AICP, Development Services Director 

SUBJECT: Request to include SR 16 Trail Projects into the North Florida TPO’s List of Priority 

Projects 
 

BACKGROUND 

 

North Florida TPO Priority Projects 

 

Each spring the North Florida TPO updates the Transportation Improvement Program (TIP) list of 

road, transit, airport, seaport, bicycle and pedestrian projects for the next five years.  The TIP begins 

with the list of priority projects (LOPP) which is used in developing the Florida Department of 

Transportation's (FDOT) Tentative Five-Year Work Program FY 2024/25– 2028/29. The LOPP 

identifies potential projects to be funded in the new fifth year (FY 2026/2027) of the FDOT Work 

Program.  TPO Staff works with local governments to develop a preliminary List of Priority Projects 

to submit to the Transportation Planning Organization (TPO) Board for review and approval at the 

March TPO Board Meeting.  

 

The City is requesting that two additional trail projects be included in the LOPP for the next fiscal 

year.  These projects include: 

 

Project 

ID                Location               Improvement                                                              Cost                       

                                                                                

105              SR 16 West         Trail Project connection to Clay-Duval Trail             $642,975  

 

 

 

107              SR 16/US 17       Trail Project from Reynolds Park to Spring Park       $981,951  

 

A map showing the location of these two projects is enclosed. 

  

Both of these projects have been identified in the Comprehensive Plan update as well as included in the 

mobility plan that was approved at the 12/13/22 City Council meeting.    

 

These projects further the following Transportation Objectives and Policies that have been adopted with 

Page 95

Item #8.



the City’s Comprehensive Plan: 

 

OBJECTIVE 2.1. Multi-Modal System.  The City shall implement a multi-modal transportation 

system that supports the Future Land Use Map and ensures the safe, convenient, and efficient movement 

of all transportation modes within and through the City. 

 

Policy 2.1.3. New and improved streets within the City shall be designed and operated to enable safe 

access for all users, including pedestrians, bicyclists, freight, motorists and transit, according to the 

purpose of each street.  

 

Policy 2.1.7. Streets shall accommodate people of all ages and abilities, including children, teenagers, 

adults, senior citizens, and persons with disabilities 

 

OBJECTIVE 2.3. System Performance. The City shall use various tools to improve the operational 

efficiency of all transportation facilities.  

 

Policy 2.3.8. The City shall prioritize mobility projects that encourage people to walk, bicycle, use new 

mobility technology and ride public transit in lieu of adding capacity to roadways. 

 

OBJECTIVE 2.4. Pedestrian and Bicycle System. The City shall encourage and promote the safe 

integration and utilization of pedestrian and bicycle movement on the major roadway network.  

 

Policy 2.4.4. The City shall coordinate with Clay County and the FDOT to incorporate pedestrian 

walkways and bicycle paths , or multi-use trails, in conjunction with road improvements, where such 

need is demonstrated. 

 

Policy 2.4.7. The City shall seek funds and grant opportunities and private/public partnerships to further 

the implementation of the Trails Master Plan. 

 

FISCAL IMPACT 

The planning estimates for the costs of these two projects are $1,624,926  

 

RECOMMENDATION 

Motion to approve the staff request to request the following projects: 

 

 The SR 16 West trail project from west City limits to the Spring Park (Project ID 105) 

 SR 16 East trail project from east City limits east of Reynolds Park to Spring Park (Project ID 

107)  

 

be included in the North Florida TPO annually updated List of Priority Projects.   

    
 

Page 96

Item #8.



11

Green Cove Springs Mobility Plan
Project Map

Project Summary
Sidewalk 2.7 Miles
Shared Use Path 9.4 Miles
Intersection Upgrades 4 intersections
Pedestrian rail crossings 3 locations

Bus stop and mobility hubs 5 locations

Complete Street 
enhancements US 17

Corridor improvements 3 Corridors and 
intersections

Page 97

Item #8.



NORTH

M
E

L
R

O
S

E

W
E

S
T

OAK

GUM

CENTER PALMER

MILL

FORBES

BONAVENTURE

IDLEWILD

L
E

M
O

N

O
A

K
R

ID
G

E

K
IR

K

S
U

N
S

E
T

C
Y

P
R

E
S

S

H
IG

H
L

A
N

D

P
IN

E

C
IT

IZ
E

N

M
A

G
N

O
L

IA

O
R

A
N

G
E

P
A

L
M

E
T

T
O

S
T

 JO
H

N
S

PARK

E
S

P
L

A
N

A
D

E SPRING
WALNUT

FERRIS

BAY

MARTIN LUTHER KING JR

COVE

NORTH

WALNUTCENTER

PALMER

P
E

A
R

L

SPRUCE

COOKS

COLONIAL

G
R

E
E

N

V
E

R
M

O
N

T

ELSIE

GREEN COVE

WALBURGHOUSTON

W
A

S
H

IN
G

T
O

N

PEBBLE BEACH

JULIA

R
O

B
E

R
T

S

STONEBRIAR

JO
EY

ENERGY COVE

LEONARD C TAYLOR

O
L

IV
E

© 2022 Microsoft Corporation © 2022 Maxar ©CNES (2022) Distribution Airbus DS
Page 98

Item #8.



W
IL

D
W

O
O

D

S
L

O
W

 T
ID

E

R
E

Y
N

O
LD

S

O
R

A
N

G
E

BUNKER

STATE ROAD 16

M
A

G
N

O
L

IA
S

T
 JO

H
N

S

SERVICE

J L
O

U
IS

LEONARD C TAYLOR

ROLAND
WORTHINGTON

H
IG

H
W

A
Y

 1
7

KENNETT

BELLE WOOD

HALL PARK

BULKHEAD

STATE ROAD 23

W
IL

D
W

O
O

D

© 2022 Microsoft Corporation © 2022 Maxar ©CNES (2022) Distribution Airbus DS
Page 99

Item #8.



                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                  

 

STAFF REPORT  
CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 

TO:  Regular Session MEETING DATE: January 16, 2024 

FROM: L. J. Arnold III, City Attorney 

Erin West, City Clerk 

SUBJECT: First reading of Ordinance O-3-024 adopting an official City Seal and the provisions of 

Section 165.043, Florida Statutes, which regulates the unofficial use of the City Seal. 
 

BACKGROUND 

The City Clerk was informed by Kim Thomas that there have been recent instances when persons or 

entities wanted to use the official seal of the City for various reasons. Upon research the City Clerk 

found that St. Augustine had adopted the protections set forth in the above statute which limits unofficial 

use of our seal without the express written approval of our governing body. This statute is similar to 

granting the City copyright protection for use of our official seal. As we see, the statute requires passage 

of an ordinance to adopt and regulate the use of our seal. The proposed ordinance together with a 

resolution to be presented to the Council, will legally protect the City from unofficial use of its seal. 

FISCAL IMPACT 

Very little, if any, assuming the followup resolution sets a reasonable fee to process requests for use of 

our seal. See AGO 2000-43 attached hereto. 

RECOMMENDATION 

Motion to Approve Ordinance No. O- 3-2024 on first reading as to form only.   
 

Page 100

Item #9.



Page 101

Item #9.



Page 102

Item #9.



Page 103

Item #9.



   ORDINANCE NO. O-3-2024 

 
AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF GREEN COVE 

SPRINGS, FLORIDA, ADOPTING AN OFFICIAL SEAL FOR THE 

CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA; ADOPTING 

PROVISIONS OF SECTION 165.043, FLORIDA STATUTES; AND 

PROVIDING FOR REPEALER, SEVERABILITY AND SETTING 

AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
WHEREAS, the City has received requests to use the official seal of the City for a variety 

of reasons; and  

 

WHEREAS, the Florida Legislature enacted a law to protect the use of the official seal 

of Florida counties and municipalities and to allow use of such seals with the express approval 

of the governing body; and 

 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 165.043, Florida Statutes, the City needs to adopt an 

ordinance regulating the use of its seal. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE BE IT ENACTED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF GREEN 

COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA AS FOLLOWS: 

 

Section 1. This is hereby adopted as the official seal of the City of Green Cove Springs, 

Florida, that certain seal attached hereto as Exhibit “A” and as filed with the City Clerk. 

 

Section 2. It shall be unlawful, and the City hereby adopts the provisions of Section 165.043, 

Florida Statutes, which is attached as Exhibit “B”, for any person to utilize any image or 

impression of said seal or to otherwise violate the provisions of Section 165.043, Florida 

Statutes, without the express approval of the City Council of Green Cove Springs. 

 

Section 3. A violation of this ordinance shall be punished as a second degree misdemeanor, 

punishable as provided in Section 775.082 or Section 775.083, Florida Statutes. 

 

Section 4. City officials shall be exempt from this ordinance when in the performance of 

their official duties. 

 

Section 5. The City Council shall authorize the procedures and fees for the use of the City 

Seal in a subsequent Resolution. 

 

Section 6. REPEALER.   Any Ordinances or parts thereof in conflict with the 

provisions of this Ordinance are hereby repealed to the extent of such conflict. 

Section 7. SEVERABILITY.   The various parts, sections and clauses of this Ordinance are 

hereby declared severable. If any part, sentence, paragraph, section or clause is adjudged 

unconstitutional or invalid by a court of competent jurisdiction, the remainder of the Ordinance 

shall not be affected thereby.  

Page 104

Item #9.



Ordinance No. O-3-2024 
Page 2 of 2 

1/9/24re  
 

 

Section 8. EFFECTIVE DATE.     This Ordinance shall become effective upon passage. 

 

 

 INTRODUCED AND APPROVED AS TO FORM ONLY ON THE FIRST 

READING BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA, ON 

THIS 16th DAY OF JANUARY 2024. 

 

 

   CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 

 

 

     By: _____________________________ 

      Constance W. Butler, Mayor 

ATTEST: _________________________ 

      Erin West, City Clerk 

 

 

 

PASSED ON SECOND AND FINAL READING BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF 

GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA, THIS 6th DAY OF FEBRUARY 2024. 

 

 

    CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA  

 

 

      By: ______________________________ 

       Constance W. Butler, Mayor 

ATTEST: _________________________ 

       Erin West, City Clerk 

 

 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

 

_________________________ 

L. J. Arnold III, City Attorney 

Page 105

Item #9.



Page 106

Item #9.



Page 107

Item #9.



STAFF REPORT  
CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA

TO: Council Meeting     MEETING DATE: January 16, 2024 

FROM: Dee Jones, Human Resources Director 

SUBJECT: Council Business Discussion - Review and Update Regarding City’s Capability and Impact to Offer 
Medical Insurance to Law Enforcement Officers Eligible for Retirement up to age 65 

BACKGROUND 
In response to requests from Officer’s Neal Newton & Josef Vanhof of the Green Cove Springs Police Department 
(GCSPD) and recent discussions with Mayor and City Council, a review has been conducted to determine the City’s 
ability to offer medical insurance coverage to retirees eligible for retirement from Florida Municipal Pension Trust 
(FMPT), policy guidance and recommendations. Offering this retirement incentive as apart of the GCSPD benefit’s 
package may increase the GCSPD marketability to attract and retain highly qualified, experienced individuals to 
apply to the GCSPD increasing stability and continuity of service at the Agency. In addition, the ability to maintain 
medical insurance coverage adds to the quality of life for retired individuals. 

This study involves reviewing the overall financial impact to add this benefit as an incentive for eligible full-time 
sworn law enforcement personnel that become eligible for normal retirement that are not yet eligible for Medicare.  

Financial Impact (costs are estimates based on assumptions, 55 years of age combined with 15 years of Service or 
25 years of credited): 

Estimated cost as of 09/30/2024 – Employer Only 
• 1- Year Employer Cost: Currently 2 employees eligible for retirement - $14,056.56 Annually

(Employer Premium Cost to continue their medical insurance at their current rate and tier)
• Total Cost up to age 65: The total estimated cost up to age 65 for the 2 currently eligible employees – 

$161,438.63

5 Year Projection - Estimated cost as of 01/01/2029 – Employer Only 
• There are 4 employees that will become eligible for retirement from GCSPD within the next 5 years. –

Estimated annual cost $34,175.88
• Total Cost up to age 65: The total estimated cost up to age 65 for the 4 eligible employees – $265,077.08

20 Year Projection - Estimated cost as of 01/01/2044 – Employer Only 
• There are 19 employees that will become eligible for retirement from GCSPD within the next 20 years. –

Estimated annual cost $1,003,452.40

This is a cost analysis of Law Enforcement employees only that are qualified for retirement under FMPT and does 
not include all other employees. 

RECOMMENDATION 

Conclusion: 
Based on our review, we have concluded that offering medical insurance coverage to those eligible individuals can 
be offered but with financial impact to the City. The participant may be responsible for continuing to pay their 
portion of the cost at the same rate offered at the time of retirement and any increase to the rates offered during 

Page 108

Item #10.



the City’s annual open enrollment to all other employees. The City may continue to pay the employer’s portion of 
the monthly premium. 

Recommended Policy Guidelines 
I recommended that the following requirements are followed for retirees to be eligible for continuation of medical 
insurance under this benefit. 

• A minimum requirement of 15 years of full-time service to qualify for retiree medical insurance. 
• Only Normal retirement eligible employees can participate. Retirees qualified for Early retirement are not 

eligible for continuation of medical insurance under this plan. 
• Must be eligible for retirement under the Florida Municipal Pension Trust. 
• Participants share the premium cost at the same rate paid at the time of retirement and any increase to the 

rates offered during the City’s annual open enrollment offered to all other employees. 
 

Options: 
The city can continue to share the cost of retiree’s coverage at the same rate as all other employees and retirees 
can remain on the medical insurance plan and monthly statements. The cost for retirees will be in addition to the 
cost of covering medical insurance for the new employee filling the position. The city can decide to budget the 
additional costs annually. 

Purpose and Next Step to Implementation as Defined Above: 
The purpose of tonight’s discussion is to determine how the Council wants to move forward and the next course of action 
toward implementation. To implement the policy as defined above is as follows: 
 

• Medical plan documents must be updated to reflect the change in premium contributions. 
• Formalize the policy as an agenda item for the Council’s approval. 
• Include the additional expense to cover the potential employer cost in the Police Department Budget during the 

next budget cycle. 
 

Page 109

Item #10.



     City of Green Cove Springs 
(904) 297-7500     321 Walnut Street              Green Cove Springs, FL 32043 
Florida Relay – Dial 7-1-1          www.greencovesprings.com 

M E M O R A N D U M 
 
To:  Steve Kennedy, City Manager 

 
From:  Development Services Department 

 

Date:  January 2, 2024 
 

Subject: Monthly Planning, Code Enforcement and Building Report for December 2023 
 

 
PLANNING 

In December, 1 new business license was issued, and 1 was renewed: 

1. Endurance Assurance Corporation (Insurance Company) 
 

Total Business Tax Revenue for December was $392.50.  
 

During the month of December: 

 

• Began or continued reviewing the following site development plans:  

• Rookery Phase 1 Final Plat 

• Energy Cove Warehouse 

• Clay Habitat Palmer Street Re-Plat:  

• Operation Lifeline Subdivision 

• Vineyard Transition Center 

• Clay County Economic Development Building 

• Clay County Fire Station 20 
• 16 lien search requests, and 3 permit applications were processed. 
• Approved 1 special event applications. 
• Revenues for Planning related fees for December were $1,161.40. 

CODE ENFORCEMENT  

In December, there were twenty-four new enforcement complaints filed. Voluntary compliance was 

achieved for five of the cases resulting in case closure. For Fiscal Year 2023-2024, Code Enforcement has 

collected $8,130.56 in Code Enforcement fines. 

Month of December courtesy notice of violation/notice of violation. 

•  5 of 24 courtesy notices of violation/notice of violation complied which led to 20% compliance. 

•  1 of 16 notices of violation voluntary compliance were achieved resulting in case closure. 

•  14 notices of violation from previous months compliance were achieved resulting in case closure. 

•  9 courtesy notices of violation from previous months compliance were achieved resulting in closure. 

•  58 cases courtesy notices of violation/notice of violation complied year to date. 

Page 110

Item #11.

http://www.greencovesprings.com/


 
 

BUILDING 
Building permit activity decreased from November to December. The total number of building permits 

issued in November was 65 compared to 58 in December. Permit activity for December 2023 increased by 

31.82% from December 2022.   
 

Revenues for Building related fees for October were $60,240.00. 
 

 

DECEMBER 2023 PERMIT SUMMARY 

RESIDENTIAL NEW 0 

COMMERCIAL NEW 0 

RESIDENTIAL ADDITION 6 

COMMERCIAL ADDITION 3 

RESIDENTIAL REMODEL / 
 IMPROVEMENT 

8 

COMMERCIAL REMODEL /  
IMPROVEMENT 

2 

DEMOLITION 1 

SIGNS 1 

POOLS 0 

RE-ROOFING 10 

FENCES 2 

MECHANICAL / ELECTRICAL / PLUMBING 23 

OTHER PERMITS 2 

TOTAL PERMITS ISSUED 58 

 

 

 

 

Page 111

Item #11.



 
 

 

 

 

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

JAN FEB MAR APR MAY JUN JUL AUG SEP OCT NOV DEC

MONTHLY PERMIT ACTIVITY 2021

2022

2023

Page 112

Item #11.



 

        ELECTRIC DEPARTMENT             
 

 

Significant activities for the month of December 2023 
 

 

 14     Streetlights repaired 

   3     Poles removed 

   3     Poles replaced 

   5     Permanent meter services installed 

   5     Utility verifications 

   1     Voltage checks. 
 
 

 
 

In addition to the activities listed above, the Electric Department also: 

 

 Conducted daily morning safety meetings. 

 Conducted daily truck inspections. 

 Trimmed limbs and vines from power lines and poles. 

 Unloaded transformers and supplies when they came in. 

 Inspect/locate ROW permits. 

 Conduct warehouse inventory/order supplies. 

 3031 Eagle Pass Pt., unlocked and covered secondarys in three phase transformer for electrician work.  

 887 Cooks Ln., transfer service to new pole and removed 2 spans of triplex.  

 800 Center St., removed duplex and cut pole down to telephone wire.  

 932 Pilot Dr., installed 3 concrete pits for switch gear. 

 850 Cooks Ln., installed cut outs on 50ft wood pole and fuse with 25ks fuse to separate line from 

apartment complex. 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 113

Item #11.

http://www.greencovesprings.com/


During the month of December, the Electric Department 

responded to the following outages: 

 

12/17/2023 – Between 12:45 p.m. – 2:25 p.m., 455 Olive Circle., lateral fuse replaced, 30 customers affected. 

12/18/2023 – Between 1:45 a.m. – 3:45 a.m., 1261 Pleasant Point Rd., tree limbs on transformer, 1 customer 

affected. 

12/21/2023 – Between 5:00 p.m. – 6:30 p.m., Rookery Project; Feeder 2510 right of way, repaired feeder lines 

after being damaged by contractor, 500 customers affected. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 114

Item #11.



Electric Utility Top Consumption Customers (kwh/meter) for 

December: 

NAME                             SERVICE ADDRESS           KWH                 AMOUNT 

St. Johns Landing            1408 N. Orange Ave.              227,330              $ 22,783.00 

Clay County Jail                                   901 N. Orange Ave.              182,000              $ 17,425.20 

Winn Dixie Stores, Inc                        3260 Hwy. 17 N.   157,800              $ 14,306.40 

BD Of County Commissioner            825 N. Orange Ave.              153,200              $ 14,293.60 

Kindred Health                                801 Oak St.               152,400              $ 13,453.20 

Permabase Building Products          1767 Wildwood Rd                       110,400                         $ 10,217.20 

BD Of Public Instruction                    2025 State Road 16               94,200              $ 10,071.60 

Clay County Court House                  825 N. Orange Ave.                 86,720                         $   8,039.76 

City of Green Cove Springs           1277 Harbor Road                           84,400                        $   8,705.20 

Tamko Roofing Products           914 Hall Park Rd.     79,040              $    8,771.12 

City of Green Cove Springs           Set Street Lights                              66,392                         $    6,850.37 

Garber Realty/GMC                            3340 Highway 17                            65,280                         $    6,991.44 

BD Of Public Instruction                    Clay High School                               64,560                         $    8,292.08 

D Of County Commissioner              477 Houston St (DMV)                    54,720                         $    5,363.76 

Coral Ridge Foods, Gc                        1165 N Orange AVE                         43,920                         $    4,208.16 

BD Of Public Instruction                     1 N Oakridge Ave                            41,520                         $     5,263.76 

VAC-CON              954 Hall Park Rd.                             41,520                         $     4,916.96 

Duval Asphalt Products, Inc.             1921 Jersey AVE (EAST END)          40,800                         $     7,414.40 

Direct TV/ ATT Services, Inc.              512 Center St                                   38,560                         $     3,558.48 

Race Trac Petroleum, Inc.                    3106 Highway 17                             37,600                         $     3,440.80 

City Of Green Cove Springs                925 S R 16 East South Wwtp         35,040                         $     3,342.32 

Green Cove Springs Marina               Pier # 11 & 1                                     34,480                         $     3,281.04 

Pegasus Technologies                         932 Pilot Dr Hanger 3 & 4              33,840                         $     3,499.52 

BD Of Public Instruction                     608 Mill ST                                        33,440                         $     4,116.32 
Page 115

Item #11.



Electric Utility Department Capital Projects: 

Pole top switch replacement 

This project began 09-18-2019 with the installation of switches at Governors Creek for restoration plan of 

isolation of north feeder across Governors Creek Bridge during extreme emergencies. Project is now in the 

inspection and evaluation process involving Chapman 2 extension to Harbor Rd and load transfer of Chapman 1 

to Chapman 2.  

 

13kV to 23kv Conversion – US17 from Harbor Road to CR 315 

Planning for this project has begun.  This project will continue the Chapman 1 and Chapman 2 circuits north of 

Harbor Road to provide capacity and reliability for existing and future customers north of Governors Creek.  

Materials for this project are being funded by a DEO Grant. Materials have started arriving and we are installing 

the material as it arrives. 

 

Governors Creek Hardening Project 

This project will allow the overhead conductor crossing Governors Creek to be placed underground from Grove 

Street to Harbor Road. This project has been split into two phases: (1) design and permitting and (2) 

construction.  It is being 75% funded by a FEMA HMGP grant. Phase 1 is complete. The project is now being 

evaluated by FDEM and FEMA funding for the construction phase. Once funding is in place and a contract is 

executed, bidding and construction should take approximately 9 months. This project will also support to 

extension of Chapman 1 and Chapman 2 circuits north of Governors Creek to provide additional capacity and 

reliability for all customers north of Governors Creek. 

Page 116

Item #11.



 

North and South Substation Improvements 

North and South substation sub-station upgrades have begun with directional bore designs completed to install 

URD 23KV feeds to substation transformers eliminating the possibility of catastrophic failure in the event of 

lightning or material failure which could cause conductor to fall into existing bus work.  

 

Page 117

Item #11.



Page 1 of 6 

 

Public Works 
Monthly Executive Summary 

December 2023 
 
Street Department 
During the month of December, The Street Department has been busy throughout the city.  Additional 

activities included:   

• Trim back limbs and vegetation on the city rights-of-way.  

• Clean storm drains City Wide.  

• 1 Silt Fence inspections.   

 
The Street Department completed 36 additional work orders that pertained to street and stormwater 
issues. 
 

Parks Department 
 
During the month of December, the Parks Department mowed, trimmed, and edged all areas one time 

including the DOT rights-of-way, all City rights-of-way, City Parks, and FCT property.   Additional 

activities included:  

• Monthly playground equipment inspection and necessary repairs.  

• Prepare the City for the Christmas season, Christmas on Walnut Street and Parade.  

• Cleaned the pool 3 times.  

 
The Parks Department completed 2 additional work orders outside of their normal daily work schedules. 
 

Equipment Maintenance 
 
The Equipment Maintenance Shop, as always, works hard to keep the equipment and vehicles going so 
the city can continue to provide our citizens with the exceptional service they are accustomed to.  
During the month of December John and Donald completed 55 work orders.   

  
Tradesworker 
 
During the month of December 22 work orders were completed.   

 

Page 118

Item #11.



Page 2 of 6 

 
Solid Waste Department 
 
       Cove Life, Litter Cleanup Program & New Services: 

• Picked up everything around the rollout cans. 

• Picked up as much loose trash, palm fronds, and sticks as possible on the streets, along the 
R.O.W. and ditches regardless of if it is near a container or not. 

• Delivered 2 trash cans and 2 recycle bins to new customers. 

• Delivered 4 recycling bins to current customers. 

• Repaired 2 trash cans.  

• Replaced 10 trash cans.   
 
This month December, the city collected:   

• 386.85 tons of Class I garbage (15% increase) 

• 18.29 tons of recycling (9% decrease) 

• 74.38 tons of yard waste (50 % decrease) 

• 86.86tons Sludge 

• 0 tons Street Sweeping  

• 5.37 tons of white goods and other junk.  
 
For comparison during December2022, the city collected: 

• 336.50tons of Class I garbage  

• 20.16 tons of recycling  

• 147.98tons of yard waste 
5.79tons Sludge 

• 0 Street Sweeping  

• 16.07 tons of white goods and other junk 
 

Water/Wastewater 
 

• W/WW crews/management had personal interaction with several citizens regarding 
water/sewer issues. 

• Contacted all customers on water and irrigation “Highest Users” report that had unusual 
consumption (not usually on report) 

• Staff continues to refine the scope and financials of the consolidated AWWTP, expanded 
reclaimed water system, wastewater collection system improvements and water system capital 
improvements to obtain maximum grant potential, optimize loan conditions and minimize 
impact to customers. 

• W/WW/RW Projects; 
o Design of the improvements to the city’s wastewater treatment system (all phases) is 

complete.  In order to maximize grant opportunities, the initial construction phase was 
split into two pieces, for a total of four phases; 

▪ Phase I is construction of the on-site reclaimed water system (storage tanks, 
high service pumps, electrical) at the existing Harbor Road Facility, and 
rehabilitation of Master Lift Stations #2 and #4.  This phase went out to bid in 
January in two parts – plant reclaimed water improvements & lift station #2 & 
#4.  Construction was completed in June 2020.  The total Phase I cost is 
$6,120,600. Staff received $4,063,425.00 in “Principal Forgiveness” (grant) from 
FDEP (SRF).   

▪ Phase II: 

Page 119

Item #11.



Page 3 of 6 

• Construction of the new 1.25 million gallon per day (MGD) advanced 
wastewater treatment plant (AWWTP) at the Harbor Road site.   
Construction approximately 85% complete.  Contractor has 
abandoned site and filed for bankruptcy protections.  Working with 
bonding agency to obtain a new general contractor to complete 
construction. 

 
▪ Phase III: 

• A new force main from Lift Station #2 diverting the sewage from the 
South Plant to Harbor Road (all sewage generated in the City will be 
treated at the new Harbor Road AWWTP). 

• Decommissioning and “mothballing” of the South Wastewater 
Treatment Plant.  The permit will remain in place and the plant could be 
re-commissioned at a later date depending on future activities at the 
Reynolds site.  Staff has applied for a grant from a new program at 
FDEP for this construction.  This is a grant only.  A private loan would 
be required to pay the balance between grant amount and actual 
project cost.  A full analysis will take place upon results of grant 
application. 

▪ Phase IV (further described below): 

• Design and permitting of a reclaimed water system in the Magnolia 
Point Development.  This project will be necessary to comply with 
Senate Bill 64, the “Surface Water Discharge Elimination Act” which 
requires utilities to eliminate wastewater facility discharges to surface 
waters (rivers, etc.) by 2032. 

• This project will be completed in phases to reduce impact to customers 
and maximize loan to grant potential. 

▪ Phase V (future – determined by growth) is a second identical 1.25 MGD 
AWWTP built at the Harbor Road site.  An alternative would be construction of 
this train at the South Plant site in Reynolds Park if the southern /Reynolds 
portion of our service territory is where significant growth occurs 

▪ Phase VI (future – determined by growth) is a third identical 1.25 MGD AWWTP 
built at the Harbor Road or Reynolds site.   
 

• Sanitary Sewer Evaluation Survey (SSES) of the Core City wastewater collection system is 
complete, including Mittauer final report.  Staff utilizes this data daily in evaluating collection 
system repairs and requests for sewer connections. 

 

• Continuing to work with FDOT and Clay County on utility relocations associated with the First 
Coast Expressway and Clay County road expansions (CR 315 & CR 209 / Russel Road). Project 
schedules and designs continue to change.  The relocation of the utilities on CR 209 will not be 
at the city’s expense as the affected area is in an easement, not in the right-of-way.  CR 315 
relocation still under review. 
 

• Senate Bill 64, The Surface Water Discharge Elimination Act:  In 2021 the Florida Senate 
approved SB 64, which requires wastewater treatment plants to eliminate surface water 
discharges by 2035, which has become a significant financial burden to utilities.  This requires 
the city to eliminate effluent discharge from the Harbor Road and South wastewater treatment 
plants to the St. Johns River.   While the city has been implementing reclaimed water projects 
for several years, there are not enough uses to take all of the city’s treated wastewater.  

Page 120

Item #11.



Page 4 of 6 

In November 2021, as required, the city submitted to FDEP a plan as to how surface water 
discharges will be eliminated.  That plan, which is to re-pipe Magnolia Point irrigation to 
reclaimed water, was approved by FDEP.  As Magnolia Point is a large user of potable / aquifer 
water for irrigation, this project has two benefits – reducing surface water discharges and 
reducing withdrawals from the Floridan Aquifer for irrigation.     
 
Staff have applied for a loan / grant from the Drinking Water SRF Program for design and 
permitting of the Magnolia Point Reclaimed Water Project. 
 

Potable Water: 

• Staff and Mittauer have completed a full review of the future capital needs of the water system.  
A comprehensive capital improvement program (CIP) has been developed as part of the Water 
Master Plan.  As in the past, the timing of many of these improvements is driven by future 
activities in Reynolds Industrial Park and other areas of our service territory.  The city has 
received an FDEP – SRF loan for Planning and Engineering of several of the CIP improvements so 
that as the need for the improvements occur, the City is ahead of the game and can apply very 
quickly to SRF for actual construction dollars as “shovel-ready” projects.  The total design project 
cost is $356,800.00, with a $178,400.00 (50%) principal forgiveness (grant), leaving an actual 
loan of $180,100.00. 

• Reynolds Water System Improvements:   

• New water mains along two primary streets to remedy fire hydrants that were 
inadequate. 

• New 12” water main crossing under SR 16 to replace aging mains that endanger the 
integrity of the road.  This eliminated four existing crossings. 

• New water main along Red Bay Road eliminating existing aging and leaking pipes.  In 
addition remediating fire hydrants that were inadequate. 

• New water main and sewer force main extension from Reynolds Park to and across the 
MOBRO complex.  This extension is designed to supply water, fire protection & sewer 
needs to MOBRO and future developments to the east.  

• Completed September 2021   
South Service Territory Improvements: 

o New 12” water main loop from US17 along CR 209 S to the existing 12” water main that 
terminated at 4600 CR 209 S.  This also included a new 4” sewer force main from US 17 
along CR 209 S to the First Coast Expressway crossing.  Completed September 2021 

• The City has received grants from the State of Florida Hazard Mitigation Grant Program (HMGP) 
to install auxiliary generators at 17 sewage lift stations, and install generators / raise 
infrastructure at four additional stations.  The grant funds 75% of the improvements.  
Approximately 99% complete 

• Continued remediation of malfunctioning or out-of-service hydrants. 

• Operated and maintained the Harbor Rd. and South Wastewater Treatment Plants as well as the 
Harbor Rd. and Reynolds Water Treatment Plants to meet the requirements of Regulatory 
Agencies. 

• Continued to make process control adjustments at the Harbor Rd. and South WWTP in efforts to 
further lower Total Nitrogen and Total Phosphorus levels being discharged to the St. Johns River.  

• Continued landscape maintenance at Water and Wastewater Treatment Facilities as well as lift 
stations. 

• Continued preventative maintenance on all treatment facility generators. 

• Completed 2 new services. 

• Completed 54 water-related work orders. 

• Completed 25 sewer related work orders. 

• Responded to 61 utilities locate requests. 

Page 121

Item #11.



Page 5 of 6 

 
TOP 10 WATER CUSTOMERS DECEMBER 2023 

 Largest Largest 
 (By Consumption) (By Dollar Amount) 
Rank CONSUMER  Rank CONSUMER  
 
1  St John’s Landing                                                              1        St John’s Landing  
2 Sheriff’s Department                                                       2        Sheriff’s Department 
3            Governors’s Creek #436                                                  3        Governors Creek #436                                                          
4            Kindred Health                                                                  4        Clay County Court House 
5            Clay County Court House                                                 5        Kindred Health 
6 Premier Surface Design LLC  6       Clay High 
7            R C Bannerman Learning Center   7       Dreh Holdings LLC  
8            Springs Coin Laudry                                                           8       Premier Surface Design LLC                                                       
9            Dreh HoldingsLLC 9        Garber Realty/Car Wash 
10 Garber Realty/Car Wash  10      Green Cove Springs Distributions 
                                                           

 
TOP 10 IRRIGATION CUSTOMERS DECEMBER 2023 

 Largest Largest 
 (By Consumption) (By Dollar Amount) 
Rank CONSUMER  Rank CONSUMER  
 
1        Eco One INC     1    Eco One INC  
2        Permabase Building Products       2    Permabase Building Products    
3        Vallencourt Construction 3    Vallencourt Construction  
4        Magnolia Point Investments 4    Magnolia Point Investments     
5        Stephen Williams 5    Mobro Marine, INC  
6        Magnolia Point Association    6    Stephen Williams  
7        Governors Point Yacht Club 7    AMH Development non Res 
8        Hut American Group LLC  8    Magnolia Point Association  
9        Mobro Marine, INC 9    Governors Point Yacht Club                                                                      
10     AMH Development non Res                                                10   Hut American Group LLC  

 
TOP 10 SEWER CUSTOMERS DECEMBER 2023 

 Largest Largest 
 (By Consumption) (By Dollar Amount) 
Rank CONSUMER  Rank CONSUMER  
 
1 St. John’s Landing 1 Sheriff’s Department 
2 Sheriff’s Department 2 St. John’s Landing 
3 Governors Creek#436 3 Governors Creek #436 
4 Kindred Health 4            Kindred Health 
5 CLAY County Court House 5            Clay County Court House                                                            
6 Premier Surface Design LLC 6            Dreh Holdings LLC                                                                        
7   R C Bannerman Learning Center                                     7            Clay High  
8    Spring Coin Laundry                                                          8            Premier Surface Design LLC 
9            Dreh Holdings LLC       9            Garber Realty/Car Wash 
10          Garber Realty/Car Wash  10          R C Bannerman Learning Center 

Page 122

Item #11.



Page 6 of 6 

 
Wastewater Plant Capacity Status 

 
South Plant:  TMDL Capacity 0.350 MGD*,  

• Current Loading 0.260 MGD*, 76% Capacity (November 2023 Annual Average) 

• Current & Committed (.065) Loading 0.325 MGD*, 93% Capacity 

• Current, Committed (.065) & Requested (0.40) Loading 0.362 MGD*, 103% Capacity 
Committed flow:  Rookery Phase 1 (.065) 
Requested flow:  Batton Lakes RV Park (0.40) 
 
Harbor Road:  TMDL Capacity 0.650 MGD* 

• Current Loading 0.497 MGD*, 77% Capacity (November 2023 Annual Average) 

• Current & Committed (0) Loading 0.497 MGD*, 77% Capacity 

• Current, Committed & Requested (0) Loading 0.497 MGD*, 77% Capacity 
*MGD = Million Gallons per Day       
                          Note:  No Reynolds growth or loading projections included in above. 
 

Page 123

Item #11.


	Top
	Item #1.	PROC: Arbor Day 2024
	Arbor Day

	Item #2.	PROC: Black History Month 2024
	Black History Month

	Item #4.	2024 Food Truck Friday Dates
	2024 FTF Dates

	Item #5.	MINS: 12/5, 12/19 REG
	2023-12-05 - Regular Minutes
	2023-12-19 - Regular Minutes

	Item #6.	County Pickleball Interlocal Amendment 3
	1.16.2024 - Staff Report - Interlocal Agreement Pickleball Courts - Amandment #3
	Pickleball Amendment #3

	Item #7.	West St CDBG Stormwater Bid 2023-14 Award
	1.16.2024 - Staff Report - Award of Bid 2023-14 West St CDBG
	2023-14 Bid Tabs
	Besch and Smith
	CGC Inc.

	Item #8.	2024 TPO Project Priorites
	Project Priority staff report 2024
	Trail Projects SR 16
	East SR 16 Trail Project
	SR16 St Johns Bridge Tral connection

	Item #9.	O-03-2024 - City Seal
	City Staff Report 1-16-2024 Ordinance )-3_2024 Use and Protection of City Seal
	Office of Attorney General State of Florida AGO 2000-43 July 20, 2000
	Ordinance O-3-2024 City Official Seal
	Exhibit A GCS Seal and Exhibit B Florida Statute 165.043 Official County or Municipal Seal

	Item #10.	Medical Insurance to LEO Eligible for Retirement
	Staff Report - 2024 Update PD Retiree Medical Insurance-1

	Item #11.	City Manager & City Attorney Reports / Correspondence
	2023 December MONTHLY REPORT Building-CE-PZ23
	Electric Dept - December 2023
	Public Works - December 2023

	Bottom

